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Eugenio Fantusati and Marco Baldi

Abu Erteila 2015: a preliminary report of the 
eighth excavation season

The eighth season of the Italian-Russian archaeo-
logical joint mission at Abu Erteila (Sudan) lasted 
from 17th November to 24th December 2015. In 
addition to co-directors Eugenio Fantusati (ISMEO) 
and Eleonora Kormysheva (IOS RAS), the cam-
paign was attended by Richard Lobban (SSA), Juan 
Vicente Estigarribia (CEEMO), Maria Rita Varriale 
and Sergey Vetokhov (architects), Marco Baldi, Sil-
via Dall’Armellina, Maxim Lebedev, Sergey Malykh, 
Nedjud Hassan Bashier, Alla Troshina and Mikhail 
Yakomulskiy (archaeologists), Svetlana Malykh 
(pottery expert). 

NCAM was represented by inspector Tysser 
Mohamed.

A new temple

Fieldwork 2015 confirmed the presence of a temple 
in the site, as already suggested by the results of the 
previous seasons: a 33 m2 broad excavation survey 
on kom II, realized to the north of the inquired area, 
yielded in fact the sacral core of such original com-
plex, including a naos surrounded by an ambulatory 
on three sides (fig. 1).

The E-W naos (K 1030) has a rectangular plan 
sized 5.4 x 4.6 meters, and is entered from east 
through a passage 160 cm wide. It is defined by 
adobe walls of width between 94 to 110 cm and 
preserved until six courses as a maximum (fig. 2).1 
The occasional inclusion of red bricks in correspond-
ence of the most stressed parts, especially corners 
and jambs,2 was noted, whereas foundations appear 
lacking. Remains of white plaster till 2 cm wide cover 
the walls and traces of yellow pigment are preserved. 
Square stone slabs of irregular dimensions make the 
pavement of the room, as well as the avenue, 160 cm 
wide, running from the naos till the eastern limit of 
the actual survey.

The ambulatory surrounding the naos has width 
between 101 to 113 cm along its three sides. It is 

1	 The mud bricks, laid according to alternating stretcher and 
header courses as usual, size 42 x 21 x 9 cm.

2	 Southern wall and jamb were partially destroyed during 
the making of two burial pits.

delimited on north and south by E-W lateral walls 
flanking the stone avenue. The southern wall, 84 
cm wide, is made from adobe masonry occasionally 
strengthened by red bricks,3 irregularly preserved 
up to six courses as  maximum; it extends from west 
for 9.40 meters till an entrance, whose eastern jamb 
protrudes by 20 cm from the survey limit. 

The northern wall, having the same width of 84 
cm, intersects the delimitation of the survey. It shows 
a more regular combination of mud and red bricks, 
burnt material making upper courses and external 
facing of the adobe masonry. Fragmented red bricks 
– probably re-employed – define three foundation 
courses, protruding 16 cm from the external line of 
the wall.

Analogous foundations, protruding 28 cm from 
the internal face, supported the rear wall of the ambu-
latory, being 107 cm in width for 9 meters in length. It 
is made from adobe masonry, 70 cm wide, surmount-
ing lower courses of red bricks.4 Burnt material was 
likewise used for making an exterior facing covered 
by white calcareous plaster, painted with red, yellow 
and blue pigments, preserved in an irregular stripe 
3.20 meters long for 12 cm as maximum height. 

The foundation structure of the wall intersects the 
actual northern limit of the survey, suggesting that 
the building extended northwards.

At the actual evidence, the rear wall of the ambula-
tory appears to be the northern extent of the western 
perimeter wall of the complex; its lesser width, equal 
to 80 cm, marks the discontinuity respect the original 
core including the naos. The perimeter wall is made 
from mud bricks courses surmounting a base in red 
bricks, which form the external protection facing and 
the foundations at the same time. Excavation work 
during the eighth season yielded its northernmost 
tract, 11 meters long, closing to west three lateral 
chapels, K 1027, K 1028 and K 1029, having rectan-
gular plan but different N-S extension.5

3	 The eastern part of the wall was partially damaged by the 
excavation of a Christian epoch burial.

4	 The red bricks size 34 x 17 x 9 cm.
5	 K 1027 is 4,5 meters extended, K 1028 2.08 meters, K 1029 

2.74 meters.
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The three chapels are divided by partition walls, 
80 cm in width, deprived of foundations. 

A square door housing in basalt was observed to 
the eastern angle of the southern entrance to K 1027.6

So far, only the area flanking K 1027 was excavated 
to the east of these three chapels and three further  
rooms, K 1024, K 1025 and K 1026 disposed from 
east to west, were brought to light. 

K 1024 and K 1025 are divided by a solidly built 
mud bricks wall,7 being 64 cm in width that runs 
in N-S direction for three meters saving a southern 
passage linking them. 

Room K 1026, 16.4 m2 broad, is closed to north 
and east by irregular red bricks walls,8 completed 
by occasional inclusions of mud pieces and bound 
with highly earth-like mortar, unable to assure good 
tie; the distribution of the collapsed material to the 
west of the eastern wall suggests that its destruc-
tion happened in a single moment. In addition to a 
northern passage, an eastern doorway, 111 cm wide, 
led to the room. 

Though an enlargement of the excavated area 
appears necessary, the rough making of these mason-
ries, as well as the building technique with no other 
evidences in the complex, suggest that the walls 
defining K 1026 were erected after the original core of 
the edifice as confirmed as well by the upper altitude 
of the red bricks threshold of the room.

The E-W wall closing these three rooms to south 
should be identified as the southern perimeter wall 
of the temple in its first building period:9 it is 65 cm 
in width, made from the combination of internal core 
in adobe and red bricks facing. 

A basement protruding 21 cm, runs along the 
external face of such wall for its actually visible 
length, corresponding to 8.20 meters. This basement 
is 30 cm high above the grade plane, and covered 
by painted calcareous plaster being till to 1.5 cm in 
thickness.10

  6	 This housing sizes 25 x 20 cm, and holds a square hole 
measuring 8 x 7 x 2,5 cm.

  7	 The mud bricks size 30 x 15 x 7 cm. In the report of the 
seventh season the two rooms, initially interpreted as 
belonging to a new building, had been called K 1201 and K 
1202 (see Fantusati et alii 2016, 137, fig. 2); after the eighth 
season, that allowed to assign them to K 1000, their marks 
have been changed.

  8	 The red bricks size 34 x 17 x 7 cm.
  9	 The red bricks size 32 x 17 x 7 cm, whereas the damages 

of adobe did not allow to measure mud bricks. A tract of 
the internal face of the wall was made from red bricks, 
probably as result of a restoration.

10	 The composition of the basement is partially hidden by the 
plaster; its height suggests the occurrence of three courses.

Fig. 1: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000 (drawn by Maria Rita 
Varriale and Marco Baldi).
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The temple was later enriched 
by a multi-roomed southern 
annex, oriented N-S accord-
ing to the actual excavation 
state, that was brought to light 
between the fourth and seventh 
excavation seasons.11 The link-
ing between the two building 
periods was assured by room 
K 1021, whose later erection 
respect the original core is 
clearly recognizable.

Structure K 1100

Structure K 1100, deprived of 
architectural connections with 
the complex, had been noted by 
the mission within the south-
eastern area of room K 1022 in 
the previous years, and newly 
brought to light during the 
eighth season. It is oriented in 
E-W direction and comprises 
two rectangular plan rooms 
(K 1104 and K 1105), that are 
respectively 7.4 and 5.3 m2 
broad and linked through a pas-
sage 95 cm wide; their walls, 
whose width varies between 
60 to 70 cm, present the usual 
combination of different clay 
materials with the exception 
of the jambs, made from red 
bricks, while the actual exca-
vation level does not allow to 
recognize foundations. Both 
the rooms are floored with dif-
ferently sized stone slabs. K 
1105 shows an eastern passage, 
evidently leading to a room 
beyond the actual limit of the 
survey, and is entered from 
south through a small vestibule 
(K 1106).12

The vestibule is closed to east by a wall whose 
southern corner brick is rounded and oriented 
towards south-west: it indicates that this wall origi-
nally delimited another room set beyond the eastern 
limit of the survey.

11	 See the reports on excavation works on kom II in Fantusati 
2013, Fantusati and Kormysheva 2014, Fantusati et alii 
2016.

12	 The vestibule measures 1 m N-S x 1.5 m E-W.

The dating of K 1100 is unclear, nevertheless its 
attribution to the first building phase of the complex 
appears likely: the unusual extension and longitu-
dinal N-S plan of K 1021, linking the original core 
and the southern annex of the temple, was in fact 
probably determined by the necessity to include in 
the structure K 1100. The stone floor may suggest 
as well the sacral nature of this structure, as noticed 
in the naos and pronaos of the temple. Moreover a 
possible destination of K 1100 to the popular devo-

Fig. 2: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Naos, View from above (photo Lebedev).

Fig. 3: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Naos, Altar and offering table (photo Kormysheva).
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tion is suggested by the finding of votive objects, as 
a bronze ring bearing a gryphon,13 two sandstone 
lion statuettes14 and faience beads.

Three circular holes, aligned in E-W direction, 
were noted in the eastern area of K 1104; the holes, 
being 6 cm in diameter, are roughly evenly spaced. 

13	 Fantusati et alii 2016, fig. 8.
14	 Fantusati and Kormysheva 2014, fig. 20.

They could have allowed the 
anchorage of a statue or another 
furnishing.15

Temple furnishings

Furnishings in the naos con-
firmed the sacral nature of the 
building. A ferricrete sand-
stone altar (fig. 3), set in axis 
with the entrance, was flanked 
on its northern side by a high 
stone stand destined to sustain 
a sacred boat (fig. 4), while a 
basement was in the south-
western corner of the room; a 
column drum, put on the stone 
floor behind the altar, was evi-
dently not in situ. Moreover, 
two sandstone lion-headed 

water spouts (90 x 37 x 50 cm), originally placed on 
the roof of the temple to assure the outflow of the 
rains, were found; one of them was re-used to close 
the door of the naos in a later epoch (fig. 5).

15	 For similar floor holes, made according to a regular scheme 
in the naos of the temple M 720 at Meroe, see Shinnie and 
Anderson 2004: 31, fig. 23. 

Fig. 4: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Naos, Stand (photo Fantusati).

Fig. 5: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Naos, Water spout (photo Kormysheva).
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The stand is 140 cm high and presents an approxi-
mately square cross-section of 26 x 20 cm at the 
top and 35 x 31 cm at the bottom. It was found in a 
inclined position between 391,91 and 391,32 meters 
above the sea level, after tearing down by the looters 
of the temple; it was originally fixed into the ground 
as suggested from the lower unworked portion, that 
was hidden in the pavement for a height of 22 cm. 
The object was discovered in good conditions with 
the exception of its upper part, partially broken, 
bounded by a cornice enriched, in correspondence 
of the eastern face, by a solar disk.

On the four faces, female figures in profile sus-
taining with their hands a starry sky can be seen. 
Each of them is standing on the representation of a 
palace and flanked by two vertical lines of Egyptian 
hieroglyphic texts. The scene represents a reproduc-
tion of the ritual twA-p.t, ‘the supporting of the sky’, 
a ceremony very well attested both in Egypt and 
Nubia to represent the cosmic order and the union 
among the king and the divinities.16

Four cartouches, that allowed to date the building to 
the reign of Natakamani and Amanitore, appear on 
every side of the stand. The king’s name is engraved 
twice: on the eastern and on the western face, where 
Kheperkare, his throne name, appears. The name of 
the queen can be read on the southern side while on 
the northern face, despite its bad conditions, Sork-
ror’s cartouche has been recognized. The presence of 
Sorkror’s name written in Egyptian hieroglyph, the 
first evidence till now found in Sudan, is one of the 
main attractions of the stand found at Abu Erteila.

The text, associated to the royal family, is repeated 
with few variants:
	 Well established on the Great Throne, O Isis, 

followed by the dedication honour of each per-
sonage.17

In order to preserve such finding, the stand was trans-
ferred to the National Museum in Khartoum in the 
course of the same day in which it was discovered, 
once completed its excavation and survey:18 it was 
26th November 2015.19

16	 See Type B of Kurth 1975, 120-123. See also Aldenhoven 
2014, 605-606.

17	 For the role of Isis in the Nubian world see Kormysheva 
2010: 134-154; Baldi 2016a.

18	 The mission is deeply grateful to NCAM for the precious 
assistance offered in the course of the stand’s transfer from 
Abu Erteila to Khartoum.

19	 A more detailed analysis of the stand will be offered in a 
paper actually in press.

The altar, found at a level of 391,22 meters, was 
cracked to a height of 97 cm; its square form is 52 x 
52 cm width, and is crossed on each side by series of 
vertical incised lines and decorations in wavy form 
recalling a snake body. On the eastern surface of the 
altar the following dedication in Egyptian hiero-
glyph was engraved:
	 King of Upper and Lower Egypt Natakamani, 

mistress Amanitore on the throne of father Rȇ.

In front of the altar’s eastern face, an offering table, 
sized 32 x 24 x 7 cm, was collocated on the pavement 
of the room confirming, together with several frag-
ments referable to an offering tray, the relevant role 
of this worship space.

Fig. 6: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Fragment of decorated 
column (photo Kormysheva).

Fig. 7: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Naos, Sandstone lion 
statuette (photo Fantusati).
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Columns

In addition to the several column drums and the 
open papyrus capital found in 2014, a new fragment 
sized 40x28 cm came to the light in the temple. Its 
decoration shows the king and a god represented 
shoulder to shoulder. The unknown divine person-
age is here reproduced holding in his right hand an 
ankh sign (fig. 6) .

Little statuary

A small sandstone statuette representing a crouched 
lion was discovered during the excavation of the 
naos. Deprived of the head, such object, whose 
dimensions correspond to 16,5 x 9,6 x 10,8 cm, has 
to be obviously reported to well diffused practices 
of popular devotion (fig. 7).20

Wall-paintings

Despite the poor conservation 
of the building, significant trac-
es of wall-paintings have been 
noticed in correspondence of 
the exterior southern and west-
ern walls, while a unique inter-
nal sample has been observed. 
Their presence confirms how 
the complex may have been 
originally completely plastered 
and painted.

External murals

Moving from the east to the west, a sequence of 
large diagonal stripes flanks a central subject along 
the basement of the southern perimeter wall of the 
temple. The stripes, representing sunbeams, are real-
ized through the chromatic variation of blue, white, 
black, yellow and red colours (fig. 8, colour fig. 2). 
The stripes are followed by the reproduction of false 
marble, whereas only two elements of the central 
subject are now clearly recognizable: an ibis and a 
winged sphinx preceding a circular form, perhaps 
a solar disk, both painted with a brown contour 

(fig. 9). The ibis is shown in 
profile according to the Egyp-
tian tradition. The sphinx, 
reproduced in standing posi-
tion, shows a lion body and a 
feminine head surrounded by 
long hair and surmounted by a 
crown; from the back depart an 
impressive wing and a long tail. 
The south-western part of the 
wall is occupied by yellow and 
blue circular forms resembling 
a snake body. This motif runs 
along the wall, turns the angle 
of the building and then contin-
ues on the western perimeter of 
the temple.

20	 On this topic see Baldi 2016b.

Fig. 8: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Outer facing of the southern perimeter wall, Detail 
of the painting on plaster depicting sunbeams (photo Baldi).

Fig. 9: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Outer facing of the 
southern perimeter wall, Detail of the painting on plaster 
depicting a solar disk flanked by an ibis and a sphinx (photo 
Fantusati).

Fig. 10: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Two-steps structure to south of K 1027. Behind it, 
on the right, is visible on the planking level the square door housing put in correspon-
dence of the entrance to K 1027 (photo Fantusati).
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Painted plaster also covered a red bricks two-steps 
structure set to south of the room K 1027, brought 
to light during the seventh season;21 a middle body 
is flanked by two slightly projected same-sized wings 
(fig. 10). It was decorated with the representation of 
two groups including human and divine personages 
collocated on both its lateral sides; of such figures 
only the legs and part of the feet are now visible. Fur-
thermore the reproduction of bows can be noticed on 
the steps: they symbolized enemies of the kingdom 
that were crushed underfoot confirming the royal 
supremacy and the full control on all the dominions 
of the reign.

Interior murals

The only known proof of paintings in the interior 
spaces of the temple is actually a human head, sized 
9 x 13 cm, realized with ochre colour and placed in 
correspondence of the south-eastern corner of K 
1025 (fig. 11). Most likely this figure was inserted 
in a line, actually disappeared, together with other 
components of a procession, as in the case of what 
is represented on the red bricks structure described 
above.

Archaeometry

Thirteen small fragments of collapsed murals from 
the temple have been analyzed in the laboratory 
“Spettroscopia Raman” of the Department of Sci-
ences, “Roma Tre” University, in order to identify 
their molecular composition, combining investiga-
tions under SEM/EDS, X-ray powder diffraction 
and Raman spectroscopy.22

21	 Fantusati et alii 2016, 135.
22	 The mission would like to thank Armida Sodo, Annalaura 

The results of the laboratory show the use of natu-
ral ochers for yellow and red pigments; copper and 
calcium silicates, typical of the “Egyptian blue”, for 
blue with robin egg blue tone;23 the white pigment is 
a white clay (kaolinite) with anatase traces.

Moreover, all pigments contain variable quan-
tities of quartz, calcium silicates depending from 
raw materials availability and technical production 
(tab. 1).

Most of all the  presence of calcium in all ana-
lyzed pigment could suggest that all the colours were 
completely englobed into the plaster carbonation 
process. This finding could indicate that all Abu 
Erteila’s temple murals were frescoes and not simply 
temperas on wall.

Casanova Municchia and Iolanda Di Cosola for the really 
precious collaboration; more detailed reports on these 
analyses will be presented on forthcoming papers and on 
the proceedings volume of the 12th International Confer-
ence for Meroitic Studies (Prague, 5-9 September 2016).  
On Abu Erteila plaster see also Baldi et alii forthcoming.

23	 Samples of Egyptian blue have been already observed in 
Dangeil: see Sweek et alii 2012, 11. 

Fig. 11: Abu Erteila, Temple K 1000, Inner facing of the 
southern perimeter wall, Detail of the painting on plaster 
depicting a human head (photo Fantusati).

Tab. 1: XRPD analyses of pigments on plaster (by Sodo, Casanova Municchia and Di Cosola).
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Burials

Work on kom II yielded five intrusive pit burials; 
three of them were realized damaging building walls. 
The corpses, differently oriented,  were not accom-
panied by grave goods. 

In addition to the burials brought to light on both 
koms during the previous seasons, they confirm that 
the territory of Abu Erteila was re-used as funerary 
area in a late phase of its life-cycle. According to 
archaeometrical analyses performed on bones of a 
skeleton from kom I their dating between twelfth 
and thirteen centuries can be suggested.24

Conclusions

To the light of what has been till now passed in 
review, we must underline most of all the unusual 
plan of the temple whose architectonic develop-
ment, on the basis of our actual knowledges, can be 
compared only with Hamadab H 1000.

Future improvements of the archaeological 
researches will be so essential to clarify on one side 
the role of Abu Erteila temple in the religious con-
text, on the other to define both the real extension 
and the planimetric trend of the structure.

Finally it appears too early, on the basis of the ele-
ments actually at our disposal, to indicate the divin-
ity worshipped in the temple and to remount to the 
circumstances that conducted to the bad destruction 
of this new Meroitic building.

Zusammenfassung

Das Italienisch-Russische archäologische Projekt in 
Abu Erteila (Sudan) wurde nach einer internationa-
len Vereinbarung mit NCAM (National Corporati-
on for Antiquities and Museums of Sudan) 2008 ins 
Leben gerufen. Das Projekt wird derzeit von ISMEO 
(International Association for Mediterranean and 
Oriental Studies), vom italienischen Außenmini-
sterium und von IOS-RAS (Russian Accademy of 
Sciences – Institute of Oriental Studies) unterstützt. 
Das Team arbeitet seit 2009 jährlich unter der Lei-
tung von Eugenio Fantusati (ISMEO) und Eleonora 
Kormysheva (IOS-RAS) im Feld. 

Abu Erteila ist ein Altertümerplatz nordöstlich 
von Shendi im Wadi el-Hawad, 9 km von Meroes 
Königsfriedhof und weniger als 5 km vom Ostufer 
des Nils bei Kabushiya entfernt. Der Boden besteht 
vor allem aus Sand, Kies und Sediment aus gelbem 
Sandstein. Das Gebiet ist flach bis auf zwei koms 
im Norden, flache Schutthügel, die Ost-West und 

24	 Fantusati et alii 2014c, 88.

Nord-Süd orientiert sind. Diese sind der Fokus der 
Untersuchungen. Nach derzeit vorliegenden Daten 
wurde Abu Erteila durchgehend von der meroiti-
schen bis in die christliche Zeit bewohnt. 

Georadar-Untersuchungen und Testschnitte führ-
ten zur Ausgrabung am Kom I (2009-2013), wo ein 
meroitischer Palast mit 19 Räumen aus Lehmziegeln 
und gebrannten Ziegeln entdeckt wurde. Zwei der 
Räume, in der Nordostecke platziert, können als 
Küche angesprochen werden, in der acht Töpfe in 
situ gefunden wurden. Fünf sekundäre Bestattungen 
wurden in diesem Gebiet in der christlichen Zeit 
eingebracht. Die in Rom vorgenommenen C14-Ana-
lysen von Holzkohle aus der Küche sowie menschli-
chen Knochen weisen darauf hin, dass das Gebäude 
aus dem 1. Jh. n. Chr. und die Bestattungen aus dem 
12. Jh. n. Chr. stammen. 

Während der letzten beiden Kampagnen lag das 
Augenmerk auf Kom II. Dort wurden Reste eines 
meroitischen Tempel aus der Zeit von Natakamani 
und Amanitore (1. Jh. v. – 1. Jh. n. Chr.) geborgen. 
Sein ungewöhnlicher Grundriss besteht aus einem 
Naos, der auf drei Seiten von einem Rundgang 
umgeben ist. Außerdem sind Seitenkapellen und ein 
großer südlicher Anbau vorhanden. Verschiedene 
Objekte sind Grundlage der Datierung des Kom-
plexes – unter anderem Säulen, wenige Statuenreste, 
Kettenglieder, ein Kupferring und Bauschmuck.

Die wesentlichen Erkenntnisse der achten Kam-
pagne (November – Dezember 2015) verdanken wir 
einem Ständer mit etwa quadratischem Querschnitt, 
der im Naos nahe einem noch in situ befindlichen 
Altar gefunden wurde. Jede Seite des Ständers trägt 
die eingeritzen Figuren von weiblichen Personen, 
die den Himmel stützen, sowie vertikale Zeilen 
eines Textes mit ägyptischen Hieroglyphen, der die 
Kartuschen von Natakamani, Amanitore und dem 
Kronprinz Sorkaror wiedergibt. Eine Widmung an 
das königliche Paar ist ebenso auf der Ostseite des 
Altars erhalten. 

Im Gebiet von Abu Erteila wurden bereits mehre-
re christliche Bestattungen gefunden, die die Nach-
nutzung dieses Ortes als Begräbnisstätte  in dieser 
späten Phase belegen. 

References

Aldenhoven, K., 2014, Kushite barque stands, in: Welsby, 
D., Anderson, J. (eds), The Fourth Cataract and Bey-
ond. Proceedings of the 12th International Conference 
for Nubian Studies, Leuven – Parigi – Walpole, MA, 
601-611.

Baldi, M., 2010, Le decorazioni, in Fantusati, E., Kor-
mysheva, E., Abu Erteila (Sudan), seconda campagna 



2016			                              Aus der Archäologie

107

archeologica della missione congiunta IsIAO - IOS 
RAS: un resoconto, Africa LXV, 1-4, 279-282.

Baldi, M., 2012, Textiles, in Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, 
E., Malykh, S., Abu Erteila. Preliminary results of 
the Italian-Russian archaeological mission excavations, 
seasons 2009-2011, BzS 11, 52-53.

Baldi, M., 2013, La ceramica, in Fantusati, E., 2013, Terza 
e quarta campagna di scavo ad Abu Erteila: risultati e 
prospettive, Rivista degli studi orientali LXXXV, 1-4, 
237-43.

Baldi, M., 2014, La ceramica, in Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, 
E., Quinta e sesta campagna di scavo ad Abu Erteila: 
rapporto preliminare, in: Fantusati, E., Baldi, M., (eds), 
Atti della Quarta giornata di Studi Nubiani – A Tribute 
to the Nubian Civilization, Rome, 20-33.

Baldi, M., 2015, The Italian-Russian archaeological missi-
on at Abu Erteila (Sudan): report of early five seasons 
2009-2012, in: AA.VV., Archeologi in progress - Atti 
del Convegno, Catania 23-26 maggio 2013, Bologna, 
222-232.

Baldi, M., 2016a, Isis in Kush, a Nubian soul for an Egyp-
tian goddess, in: D’Ascoli, A., Baldi, M. (eds), Renenu-
tet/Isis Termouthis: diffusion of this anguiform deity 
from east to west, Journal of Intercultural and Inter-
disciplinary Archaeology 2015/2, 97-122.

Baldi, M., 2016b, The journey to sacred experience in the 
Napatan-Meroitic world: pilgrimage and other expres-
sions of popular devotion, in: Cavillier, G. (ed.), Sacer-
doti, templi e dei. Atti del V Convegno di Egittologia, 
Genova, 7-8 ottobre 2015, Torino, 17-32.

Baldi, M., Varriale, M.R., 2010, An Hypothetical 3d Re-
construction of the So-Called Church in Abu Ertelia, 
Africa LXV, 1-4, 284-288.

Baldi, M., Bellatreccia, F., Sodo, A., Casanova Municchia, 
A., Gaeta, M., forthcoming, Archaeometry and new 
technologies in Kushite Nubia, in: Proceedings of 13th 
International Conference for Nubian Studies (Neuchâ-
tel, 1-6 September 2014).

Bellatreccia, F., Della Ventura, G., 2014, Analisi diffratto-
metriche di alcuni frammenti ceramici, in: Fantusati, 
E., Kormysheva, E., Quinta e sesta campagna di scavo 
ad Abu Erteila: rapporto preliminare, in: Fantusati, 
E., Baldi, M., (eds), Atti della Quarta giornata di Studi 
Nubiani – A Tribute to the Nubian Civilization, Rome, 
33-36.

Casanova Municchia, A., Baldi, M., Fantusati, E., Sodo, 
A., Addis, A., Artioli, G., Ricci, M.A., Secco, M., for-
thcoming, Characterization of Meroitic pottery (I – IV 
century AD) from Abu Erteila (Sudan), in: Procee-
dings of 1st International Conference on Metrology for 
Archaeology, Benevento, Italy, October 22-23, 2015.

Fantusati, E., 2009a, Rapporto preliminare della prima 
missione archeologica dell’IsIAO ad Abu Erteila (sta-
gione 2008-2009), Africa LXIV, 1-2, 139-145.

Fantusati, E., 2009b, Excavations in Abu Erteila (season 
2008-2009): a short preliminary report, BzS 10, 59-70.

Fantusati, E., 2013, Terza e quarta campagna di scavo ad 
Abu Erteila: risultati e prospettive, Rivista degli studi 
orientali LXXXV, 1-4, 221-256.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., 2010, Abu Erteila (Sudan), 
seconda campagna archeologica della missione con-
giunta IsIAO - IOS RAS: un resoconto, Africa LXV, 
1-4, 268-283.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., 2014, Quinta e sesta cam-
pagna di scavo ad Abu Erteila: rapporto preliminare, 
in: Fantusati, E., Baldi, M. (eds), Atti della Quarta 
giornata di Studi Nubiani – A Tribute to the Nubian 
Civilization, Rome, 1-48.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Lobban, R., Malykh, S., 
2010, Excavations in Abu Erteila (season 2008-2009), 
Cultural Heritage of Egypt and Christian Orient 5, 
14-42.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Malykh, S., 2012a, Abu 
Erteila. Preliminary results of the Italian-Russian 
archaeological mission excavations, seasons 2009-2011, 
BzS 11, 21-59.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Malykh, S., 2012b, GPR 
Survey and archaeological excavations at Abu Ertei-
la (the Republic of Sudan), in: Sedov, A. (ed.), New 
research in archaeology and epigraphy of South Ara-
bia and its neighbors. Proceedings of the Rencontres 
sabéennes 15 held in Moscow, May 25th-27th, 2011, 
Moscow, 165-208.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Malykh, S., 2014a, Survey 
in Abu Erteila: preliminary results, in: Welsby, D., 
Anderson, J. (eds), The Fourth Cataract and Beyond. 
Proceedings of the 12th International Conference for 
Nubian Studies, Leuven – Parigi – Walpole, MA, 739-
757.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Malykh, S., 2014b,
	 АБУ ЭРТЕЙЛА: НОВЫЙ АДМИНИСТРАТИВНЫЙ 

ЦЕНТРИМПЕРИИ МЕРОЭ (СЕВЕРНЫЙ СУДАН), 
Boctok (Oriens) 2, 121-141.

Fantusati, E., Kormysheva, E., Malykh S. 2014c, Abu 
Erteila – An Archaeological Site in the Butana Region, 
in Lohwasser, A., Wolf, P. (eds), Ein Forscherleben 
zwischen den Welten – Zum 80. Geburtstag von Steffen 
Wenig, Berlin, 65-94.

Fantusati, E., forthcoming, Architectural evidences from 
Abu Erteila, in Proceedings of 13th International Con-
ference for Nubian Studies (Neuchâtel, 1-6 September 
2014).

Fantusati, E., Baldi, M., Bellatreccia, F., Sodo, A., Casanova 
Municchia, A., 2016, Report of the seventh excavation 
season at Abu Erteila, in: D’Ascoli, A., Baldi, M. (eds), 
Renenutet/Isis Termouthis: diffusion of this anguiform 
deity from east to west, Journal of Intercultural and 
Interdisciplinary Archaeology 2015/2, 133-146.



        Aus der Archäologie                                                MittSAG 27

108

Kormysheva, E., 2010, Gott in seinem Tempel: Lokale 
Zuge und Agyptische Entlehnungen in der geistigen 
Kultur des alten Sudan, Moscow.

Kurth, D., 1975, Den Himmel Stützen. Die ‘twA-p.t’ Szene 
in den ägyptischen Tempeln der griechisch-römischen 
Epoche, Bruxelles.

Shinnie, P.L., Anderson, J., 2004, The Capital of Kush 2. 
Meroe Excavations 1973-1984, Meroitica 20, Berlin.

Sweek, T., Anderson, J., Tanimoto, S., 2012, Architectural 
Conservation of an Amun Temple in Sudan, Journal of 
Conservation and Museum Studies 10(2), 8-16.

Anzeige



Mitteilungen der
Sudanarchäologischen

Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V. 

Heft 27
2016



             Impressum                                                           MittSAG 27

ISSN 0945-9502

Der antike Sudan. Mitteilungen der Sudanarchäologischen Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V.

Kurzcode: MittSAG

Heft 27 • 2016

Herausgeber:				             Sudanarchäologische Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V.
					              c/o Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin 
					              Institut für Archäologie
					              Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte Nordostafrikas
					              Unter den Linden 6  •  10099 Berlin

Verantwortlich für die Herausgabe:	          Angelika Lohwasser

Layout & Satz:				             Frank Joachim

Erscheinungsort:		           Berlin

Internetpräsenz:		           www.sag-online.de

Bankverbindung der SAG:		           Deutsche Bank AG 
					              BIC	 DEUTDEDBBER 
					              IBAN	 DE36 1007 0024 0055 5508 00

Die Zeitschrift Der Antike Sudan (MittSAG) erscheint einmal im Jahr.
Die in den Beiträgen geäußerten Ansichten geben nicht unbedingt die Meinung des Herausgebers wieder.
Die „Richtlinien für Autoren“ finden Sie unter www.sag-online.de, wir senden sie auf Anfrage auch gerne zu.

© 2016 Sudanarchäologische Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V.
Nachdruck, auch auszugsweise, nur mit Genehmigung der Gesellschaft.

Sudanarchäologische Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V.

Angesichts der Tatsache, daß die globalen wirtschaftlichen, ökonomischen und politischen Probleme auch 
zu einer Gefährdung der kulturellen Hinterlassenschaften in aller Welt führen, ist es dringend geboten,  
gemeinsame Anstrengungen zu unternehmen, das der gesamten Menschheit gehörende Kulturerbe für künf-
tige Generationen zu bewahren. Eine wesentliche Rolle bei dieser Aufgabe kommt der Archäologie zu. Ihre 
vornehmste Verpflichtung muß sie in der heutigen Zeit darin sehen, bedrohte Kulturdenkmäler zu pflegen 
und für ihre Erhaltung zu wirken.

Die Sudanarchäologische Gesellschaft zu Berlin e.V. setzt sich besonders für den Erhalt des Ensembles von 
Sakralbauten aus meroitischer Zeit in Musawwarat es Sufra/Sudan ein, indem sie konservatorische Arbeiten 
unterstützt, archäologische Ausgrabungen fördert sowie Dokumentation und Publikation der Altertümer 
von Musawwarat ermöglicht. Wenn die Arbeit der Sudanarchäologischen Gesellschaft zu Berlin Ihr Interesse 
geweckt hat und Sie bei uns mitarbeiten möchten, werden Sie Mitglied! Wir sind aber auch für jede andere 
Unterstützung dankbar. Wir freuen uns über Ihr Interesse!

Mitgliedsbeiträge jährlich:
Vollmitglied: € 65.- | Ermäßigt: € 35.- | Student: € 15.- | Fördermitglied: mind. € 250.-



2016			                                 Inhaltsverzeichnis

Übersichtskarte .................................................................................................................................................. 4

Editorial .............................................................................................................................................................. 5

Nachrichten aus Musawwarat

Claudia Näser
Hugging the wall. New insights into the building history and the uselife of the
Great Enclosure at Musawwarat ..................................................................................................................... 7

Nadine Nolde
Tierknochenfunde der Grabungskampagne 2014 und 2015 in Musawwarat es-Sufra, Sudan .................. 19

Yvonne Reimers
„Völkerfreundschaft“ im Sudan: Grabungsfotografien der 1960er Jahre aus
Musawwarat unter kulturwissenschaftlicher Perspektive. Ein Projektbericht ........................................... 25

Fritz-Hintze-Vorlesung

Bogdan Żurawski
Between heaven and hell. Excavations at Banganarti, 2001-2013 ............................................................. 33

Aus der Archäologie

Nader El-Hassanin and Aboualhassan Bakry
SOP 1024 Site in Selima Oasis: The Lithic Material Analysis .................................................................... 57

Angelika Lohwasser, Jana Eger & Tim Karberg
Das Projekt Wadi Abu Dom Itinerary (W.A.D.I.) Kampagne 2016 .......................................................... 71

Dieter Eigner
W.A.D.I. heute. Rezente Siedlungen im Wadi Abu Dom, Erster Vorbericht ............................................. 87

Eugenio Fantusati and Marco Baldi
Abu Erteila 2015: a preliminary report of the eighth excavation season .................................................... 99

Varia

Miriam Lahitte
Skarabäen in Gala Abu Ahmed ................................................................................................................... 109

Alexey K.Vinogradov
Gods in Boots. A Post Scriptum to ‘The Many-Eyed Thinker from Meroe’ ............................................. 121

Tsubasa Sakamoto
Soba and the Meroitic Southern Frontier ..................................................................................................... 125

Tsubasa Sakamoto
Stratigraphy and Absolute Chronology of Jebel Moya:
A note on Michael Brass’ recent interpretation ........................................................................................... 133

Joanna Then-Obłuska
Early Makuria Research Project. Late antique beads and a Napatan amulet from the
Early Makuria Phase II tumuli cemetery at El-Detti (about AD 450-550), Season 2015 ....................... 139




